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Solicitor, U S. Departnent of Labor,
Arlington, Virginia, for Petitioner;
WIlliamD. Stover, Esq., Maben Energy
Cor poration, Beckley, West Virginia, for
Respondent .

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a civil penalty proposal filed by
the petitioner against the respondent pursuant to section 110(a)
of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. [O
820(a), seeking a civil penalty assessnent in the anpunt of $750
for one alleged violation of mandatory safety standard 30 C. F. R
075.1722(b). The violation is in the formof a section 104(d)(1
citation, with special "S & S" findings, issued by MSHA | nspect or
James Christian on April 18, 1984.

The respondent filed a tinmely answer contesting the proposed
civil penalty assessnent, and a hearing was held in Beckley, West
Virginia, on May 2, 1985. The parties filed posthearing briefs,
and the argunents made therein have been considered by ne in the
adj udi cation of this case.
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Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provi sions
1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, P.L.
95-164, 30 U.S.C. [0801, et segq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U S.C [820(i).
3. Commission Rules, 29 C.F.R [2700.1 et seq.
| ssues

The principal issue presented in this proceeding is (1)

whet her respondent has viol ated the provisions of the Act and

i npl enenting regulation as alleged in the proposal for assessnent
of civil penalty, and, if so, (2) the appropriate civil penalty
that shoul d be assessed agai nst the respondent for the alleged

vi ol ati on based upon the criteria set forth in section 110(i) of
the Act. Additional issues raised by the parties are identified
and di sposed of where appropriate in the course of this decision

In determ ning the amount of a civil penalty assessment,
section 110(i) of the Act requires consideration of the foll ow ng
criteria: (1) the operator's history of previous violations, (2)
t he appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business
of the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achi eve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

Sti pul ations
The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 5-6):

1. The respondent is owner and operator of the No. 6
M ne, and both the m ne and the respondent are subject
to the Act.

2. The presiding Judge has jurisdiction to hear and
decide this matter.

3. At all tines relevant to this case, MSHA Inspectors
James Christian and Gary Taylor were acting in their
of ficial capacity as designated authorized
representatives of the Secretary of Labor

4. The citation in issue in this case was properly
served at the nmine on a representative of the
respondent.
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5. Mne production at the No. 6 Mne for the year 1984
was approxi mately 43,543 tons, and overall production
for the respondent for 1984 was approximately 941,
936 tons.

6. Payment of the assessed civil penalty for the
citation in question will not adversely affect the
respondent's ability to continue in business.

Prehearing rulings

During a bench di scussion concerning the issues presented
for trial, the parties were advised that while the citation which
gave rise to the civil penalty proposal by the petitioner is in
the formof a section 104(d)(1) unwarrantable failure citation
with special "S & S" findings, the validity of the inspector's
"unwarrantable failure"” finding is not an issue, but that | would
consider it as part of my civil penalty negligence findings. The
parties were al so advised that while the inspector issued a
section 104(b) order after finding that the respondent failed to
abate the citation in good faith, the validity of that order is
not at issue in this case, and MSHA has not included it as a part
of its civil penalty proposal (Tr. 6-8).

Petitioner's counsel stated that he was in agreement with ny
ruling concerning the reviewability of an unwarrantable failure
finding by an inspector in a civil penalty proceeding (Tr.

11-12).

Respondent' s counsel agreed with ny ruling concerning the
section 104(b) order (Tr. 8). However, he took the position that
the "unwarrantable failure" finding by the inspector presented a
qguestion of lack of "notice" to the operator that it had prior
know edge of the violative conditions (Tr. 10). In support of his
position, counsel cited the Price R ver Coal Conpany decision
i ssued by fornmer Comm ssion Judge Virgil Vail on Cctober 7, 1983,
WEST 80-83, 5 FMSHRC 1766, 3 MSHC 1158 (1983). After further
consi deration of this issue, the parties were advised that for
pur poses of the trial, ny rulings would stand, and the
respondent's counsel was advised that he was free to take
exception with ny ruling and discuss it in any posthearing brief
(Tr. 12).

After futher consideration of this issue, ny pre-trial
ruling that an inspector's unwarrantable failure finding is not
reviewable in a civil penalty proceeding is REAFFI RVED. In the
Price R ver Coal Conpany case, Judge Vail relied on
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t he Conmi ssion's decision in Cenment Division, National Gypsum
Conmpany, 2 MSHC 1201 (1981), to support his conclusion that an

i nspector's unwarrantable failure finding is reviewable in a
civil penalty case. In the National Gypsum case, the Conm ssion
decided the interpretation to be placed on a "significant and
substantial” (S & S) violation, and while it did so in the
context of a civil penalty proceeding, | cannot construe the
deci sion as supporting authority for the conclusion that an
unwarrantable failure finding is reviewable in a civil penalty
proceedi ng. | do not construe the Conm ssion's conment that
unwarrant abl e failure findings "are inportant” as precedent for
hol di ng that such findings are reviewable in a civil penalty
case. The Conmi ssion nmade no such ruling in the National Gypsum
case. Further, in a recent decision issued by the Comm ssion on
August 5, 1985, in Black D anmond Coal M ning Conpany, Docket No.
SE 82-48, the Conmmission affirned nmy decision on this issue in
t hat case.

Di scussi on

The section 104(d)(1) "S & S" citation issued by |Inspector
Christian at 9:04 a.m, on April 18, 1984, cites a violation of
30 CF.R [O75.1722(b), and the cited condition or practice is
descri bed as foll ows:

The nunber 1 belt conveyor tail pulley was not
adequately guarded to prevent a person reachi ng behind
t he guard and becom ng caught in between the belt and
pulley; in that, conveyor belt was used as a guard at
the back end of the tail pulley and such material was
laying on the belt jack posts which allowed an openi ng
of 18 inches vertical and 12 inches horizontally to
exi st behind the belt pulley; the side opening guards
on the inby end of the belt conveyor tail pulley were
gone, exposing the tail pulley to an opening of
approximately 12 x 12 inches. According to the belt
conveyor exam ner book the belt conveyors are exam ned
each coal producing shift and this condition appeared
to have existed for weeks.

Petitioner's Testinony and Evi dence
MSHA | nspector Janmes Christian testified that he has been a

m ne inspector for 18 years and has 23 years of mning
experience. He stated that he has fire boss and m ne
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foreman's certificates fromthe State of West Virginia, and that
he has taken a 13 week mine training course at the Wst Virginia
Uni versity.

M. Christian identified a copy of the citation which he
i ssued (Exhibit P-1), and he confirmed that mine foreman M ke
Ayers acconpani ed himduring his inspection on April 18, 1984.
The inspection began on the surface and conti nued underground,
and it was conducted during the day production shift. The No. 1
belt conveyor was in operation conveying coal fromthe working
section, and the height of the coal ranged from 30 to 32 inches,
and the belt entry was approximately 20 feet wi de. The belt had
travel ways on both sides, and they were approximtely 12 to 13
feet wide on the "clear side", and 3 feet wide on the rib side.
The travelway clearance on the rib side ranged from18 to 36
i nches between the rib tinbers and the belt structure.

M. Christian identified a diagramof a "typical belt
conveyor tail pulley,” and indicated that it was representative
of the tail pulley which he cited. He described the tail pulley
operation, and he indicated that it consisted of one |arger
roller at the back end of the belt conveyor with a bearing hol der
whi ch supported the tail roller at each side. He indicated that
the pulley was not powered and that it sinply supported the belt
and turned with the belt as it noved over the pulley.

M. Christian stated that when he inspected the tail pulley
he found that it was guarded at the rear by a piece of belt
mat eri al approximately 12 inches wi de and 18 inches | ong. The
belting material was bolted to the top frame of the conveyor and
it extended at an angle to the nmine floor over two pernanent belt
conveyor jacks (No. 3 on Exhibit P-3). However, both sides of the
rear of the pulley were not guarded by the belt material and
t hese areas were exposed and open. He al so observed two unguarded
openi ngs on each side of the belt conveyor structure, and he
estimated that these "rectangul ar” openings were 12 inches by 12
i nches. These openings were part of the conveyor structure itself
and were in close proximty to the tail pulley. In his opinion
all of these unguarded openings were readily observable, and he
estimated that the pulley "pinch points” were about 3 inches from
t he unguar ded openi ngs.

M. Christian stated that the unguarded pulley appeared to
have been in this condition for weeks. The belt stands were
rusty, and there was coal dust and float coal dust accunul ated on
the pulley. The area was required to be inspected
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at | east once a day, and he believed that one or two people would
be exposed to a hazard. The belt exam ner would be there for 5

m nutes while visually inspecting the tail pulley area, and the
belt cleaner would be there for approximately 15 m nutes
shovel | i ng and renovi ng coal fromunder the pulley on both sides.
A mechani c woul d al so have occasion to be in the area greasing
the pulley bearings at |east once during the shift.

M. Christian stated that it was possible for sonme one to
reach into the unguarded openings to clean up | oose coal or
rocks, and the installation of guards to cover the openings would
serve to renove this tenptation. M. Christian also stated that
the area around the pulley was danp and wet, and he observed a
shovel adjacent to the pulley, as well as sonme coal materials
whi ch appeared to have been cleaned up and placed in a pile. This
led himto believe that soneone had been there earlier cleaning
up coal accunul ations.

M. Christian stated that when he pointed out the unguarded
| ocations to M. Ayers, he conceded the violation and agreed t hat
the tail pulley was inadequately guarded. M. Christian confirmed
that he discussed the use of belting material as guarding, and
suggested that metal guarding materials would be nore permanent
and could not be renmoved. M. Christian advised M. Ayers that he
woul d prefer netal guarding, and he fixed the abatenent tine as
the next norning. M. Ayers informed himthat he could possibly
obtain the metal guarding materials from another nine
approximately 15 mles away, and once the material was obt ained,
it would take approximately an hour or so to install it.

M. Christian stated that when he returned to the mne the
next day, he went to the tail pulley area at approximately 11:00
a.m, and the guards were being installed. M. Christian believed
that the abatenent work coul d have been conpleted in 2 hours
during the prior shift, and he anticipated that this work would
have been conpleted by the start of the shift the next norning
(Tr. 15-41).

On cross-exam nation, M. Christian stated that he found the
violation to be significant and substantial because the openings
in the belt guards, and the unguarded openi ngs on both sides of
t he conveyor, presented a reasonably likelihood that a person
woul d reach in and behi nd the unguarded areas. In addition, he
bel i eved that someone coul d contact the unguarded tail pulley
t hrough carel essness, and that someone could slip and get their
arminto the



~1499

unguarded areas while travelling by or while greasing or cleaning
the pulley. However, he conceded that due to the | ow coal height,
anyone in the area would be crawing on their hands and knees,
and he confirmed that he and M. Ayers had to crawl in to inspect
the pull ey area.

M. Christian confirned that he examined the belt exami ner's
books but found nothing noted about the tail pulley. He al so
stated that MSHA' s guardi ng policy guidelines require that
equi prent guards be installed or bolted to the belt conveyor in
such a manner as to require a wench to renove them He confirnmed
that he had inspected the mne in the past but had not previously
observed the unguarded tail pulley and i ssued no prior guarding
citations.

In response to further questions, M. Christian stated that
he issued no citations for coal accunulations on the tail pulley
or for any tripping or stunbling hazards in the tail pulley area.
He al so confirmed that he had no knowl edge concerning the mne
belt cl eaning or mai ntenance procedures, nor did he know whet her
the belt was ever shut down when the pulley was cl eaned or
greased (Tr. 41-76).

MSHA | nspector Gary Taylor testified as to his mning
experi ence, and he confirned that he has been an inspector since
1975. He hol ds an associate degree in mning fromthe Beckl ey
Uni versity, has received MSHA training, and has State of West
Virginia mne foreman's papers.

M. Taylor confirmed that he was at the mne on April 19,
1984, and conducted an inspection with M. Christian. He was
acconpani ed by mne electrician Paul Gllespie, and they went to
the tail pulley area to determ ne whether the conditions cited by
M. Christian the previous day had been abated. M. Taylor found
that the guarding had not been installed and that the conditions
as testified to by M. Christian still existed. The area was wet
and nuddy, and he detected a "slight dip" in the mne floor in
the tail pulley area.

M. Taylor stated that when he inspected the tail pulley, he
found no evidence that any work had been done to correct the
cited conditions. M. Gllespie |left the area to see about the
guardi ng, and returned within 40 to 45 mnutes to install the
guards. M. Taylor helped himbring in the guards and assi sted
himin the abatenent.

M. Taylor stated that before M. Gllespie left to find the
material, he requested M. G llespie to shut the belt down
because the cited conditions had not been abat ed.
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M. Taylor believed that a slipping and falling hazard stil

exi sted, and he agreed with M. Christian's determ nation that a
hazardous condition existed at the unguarded tail pulley

| ocations. M. Taylor believed that the respondent did not

exhi bit good faith conpliance because the conditions were not
abated within the tine fixed by M. Christian (Tr. 77-89).

On cross-exam nation, M. Taylor confirmed that other
conveyor belt |ocations had unguarded openings sinmlar to the
openi ngs found by M. Christian on both sides of the tail pulley
area, but he indicated that guards would not be feasible at those
| ocati ons because the openings provided a nmeans of ventilating
the belt. The installation of guards at those | ocations would
result in possible belt heating and would create a greater
hazard. He al so indicated that these other open areas were sinply
near the belt rollers which supported the belt and that if anyone
reached in the "worst thing that could happen” would be a mashed
finger or a broken hand or wist. The injuries at the cited
unguarded tail pulley in question, however, would be nore severe,
i ncluding the possible loss of a linb (Tr. 90-93).

Respondent' s Testi nony and Evi dence

Fred E. Fergusen, testified that he is the principal stock
hol der of Maben Energy, and that he is familiar with the citation
i ssued by Inspector Christian. M. Fergusen confirmed that he was
fornmerly enpl oyed by MSHA as a supervisory inspector and that M.
Christian and M. Taylor at one tinme worked under his
supervision. He also confirned that he was involved in the
managenent of the mine, and he expressed concern over the |ack of
consi stency anong the inspectors as to the kinds of guards
required by section 75.1722. He stated that the belt guarding
used to guard the tail pulley in question had been previously
installed on that sane pulley before the belt was | engthened and
nmoved to the location where M. Christian inspected it on Apri
18, 1984. Although the guarding had been previously cited as
i nadequate, after the belt was noved, M. Christian reinspected
the pulley and found the belt guarding to be adequate.

M. Fergusen stated that he went to the cited tail pulley
area after the belt was shut down by Inspector Taylor on Apri
19, 1984. In M. Fergusen's opinion, the guardi ng was adequate
and he deni ed the existence of any hazardous conditions. He
stated that the sanme exposed areas existed
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al ong many belt |ocations, but that these areas had never been
cited and guards have never been required.

M. Fergusen stated that the belt which noves over the cited
tail pulley nmoves fromthe bottomto the top and over the pulley
in a counter-cl ockw se nmanner, and he did not believe that an
injury would result if anyone reached in. M. Fergusen stated
further that while in the tail pulley area after the belt was
shut down, he had to lie down and contort his body in order to
reach in and contact the pulley and roller. He indicated that the
tail piece is only 16 inches high, and he believed that it was
guarded better than other wal kway areas along the belt line. He
al so stated that grease hoses are installed at the tail pulley,
and that anyone servicing or greasing the pulley would be 20 to
30 inches away. He also indicated that anyone cleaning in the
area woul d use a shovel to reach any accunul ati ons under and
around the tail pulley.

M. Fergusen stated that it was his understanding that the
expanded netal materials required to fabricate the guards had
been ordered, but after M. Taylor shut the belt down and
producti on ceased, he instructed that scrap netal be used to
fabricate the guards so that the citation could be abated while
awai ting the ordered materials (Tr. 93-99).

On cross-exam nation, M. Fergusen stated that the netal
materials used to guard the belt would have been ordered through
a local supply house that services nost of Maben's m nes. He
indicated that M. Gl espie and anot her nai ntenance man work
from9:00 a.m to 5:00 p.m, and that their shift overlaps the
regul ar working shift whichis from7:00 a.m to 3:00 p.m Since
I nspector Christian would not accept chain |link fencing as
adequat e guarding material, M. Fergusen assuned that he woul d
have allowed nore tine to order and install the expanded netal
guardi ng. Since the order was issued shutting down production
M. Gllespie had to obtain scrap pieces of expanded netal and
fabricate it into adequate guarding. Had M. G |l espie been
all owed to use rubber guarding or fencing material, he could have
abated the cited condition the first day (Tr. 100-102). He
believed that M. Gllespie "did a quick job" of guarding in
order to resume production (Tr. 103).

M. Fergusen stated that the rubber guarding on the belt in
guestion had been installed after another MSHA | nspector
(Simmons) indicated that he wanted it guarded that way, and that
until M. Christian's inspection, it was always guarded in that
fashion (Tr. 106). M. Fergusen identified a
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citation issued by Inspector Robert Sinmons, No. 2124785, issued
on Novenber 7, 1983, in which M. Simons found that an 8 foot

pi ece of belt had been placed over the tail roller in an attenpt
to guard it. M. Fergusen stated that abatenment was achi eved in
that instance by sinply bolting the rubber belting to the frane
of the belt, and that M. Sinmmons accepted this as adequate (Tr.
109-111).

M. Fergusen confirmed that he had contacted MSHA' s district
of fice about his guarding problens and the fact that inspectors
were requiring different kinds of guarding, but he denied that he
had agreed to submit any guarding plans for MSHA s approval. He
stated that he resisted efforts to require himto subnmt "big,
vast drawi ngs as to how to guard belt heads" (Tr. 115).

M. Fergusen stated that there are openings along the entire
belt structure and that sone MSHA inspectors want them guarded,
while others do not (Tr. 118). He also alluded to other belt
areas which in his opinion present hazards, but which are not
required to be guarded (Tr. 120-122). He confirned that in 1984,
all of the mine belt heads were conpletely guarded with either
chain link fencing, belting material, or expanded nmetal (Tr.

122).

I nspector Christian was recalled as the Court's w tness, and
he confirmed that he did speak with M. Ayers about the
abatement. He stated that he told M. Ayers that the use of
rubber guarding material was acceptable, as long as it was
secure. He also told M. Ayers that something "nore substantial"”
shoul d be used (Tr. 131). M. Christian indicated that the use of
a chain link fence could have been di scussed, and that he woul d
accept this as long as it was securely installed in such a manner
to preclude one fromreaching through and coming into contact
with noving parts (Tr. 132).

M. Christian stated that when he fixed the abatenment tine,
he was under the inpression through a discussion with M. Ayers
that the materials were readily available at the mne (Tr. 134).
M. Christian stated that he issued the citation because the
belting material did not cover the exposed part of the back of
the tail roller, and because the belting was sinply |ying over
t he support posts, with an exposed opening in the back "where it
could be got into" (Tr. 135). He confirmed that had the exposed
areas been covered by belting material, he would have accepted it
as adequate (Tr. 136). He stated that inspectors can "suggest"”
the type of guarding materials to be used for guarding
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exposed belt areas, but they cannot "insist" that any particul ar
type of material be used (Tr. 136-137).

M. Christian believed that M. Fergusen was well aware of
the type of guarding required to conply with the cited standard,
and he confirmed that M. Fergusen at one tinme worked as an MSHA
supervisor. M. Christian saw no conflict in MSHA s guardi ng
policy and M. Fergusen's know edge as to what is required to
achi eve conpliance (Tr. 139).

I nspector Taylor was recalled as the Court's w tness, and he
confirmed that when he returned to the mne on April 19th to
abate the violation, he discussed the matter with M. Christian
on their way to the mine. M. Christian told himthat he had
advised M. Ayers that while he could use rubber guarding to
abate the citation, he (Christian) recommended that netal
material be used. M. Christian also told himthat either "M.
Ayers or the supply man outside” told himthat the nmetal guarding
mat eri al had been ordered and would be installed the evening of
the April 18th (Tr. 141-142).

M. Taylor stated that when he returned to the mne on April
19th, he spoke with the mne foreman in his office, and the
foreman was under the inpression that the abatenment work had been
done (Tr 142). Later, when he found that the belt opening had not
been guarded, the person who acconpani ed himstated that he knew
not hi ng about it. This person may have been M. Gl espie, and
after he shut the belt down, the individual |eft and returned 30
or 40 minutes later with sone netal materials to install as a
guard. After sonme adjustnents to the materials, M. Tayl or hel ped
to install the nmetal guarding in order to achi eve abatenent (Tr.
143-145). Al though he saw M. Fergusen shortly after this work
was done, he did not speak to him However, he spoke with M.
Ayers, and M. Ayers stated that he thought the condition had
been taken care of (Tr. 146).

M. Fergusen stated that the material used to abate the
condition was heavy corrugated nmetal, and since it was rusty in
pl aces, he assuned that it had been lying in a supply yard. The
abatement work took 40 to 45 minutes (Tr. 147).

M. Taylor was of the opinion that had the cited condition
been allowed to continue for any period of time, a reasonable man
woul d expect a person to get caught at sone time (Tr. 149). M.
Tayl or stated that while the belt was down, and while he was near
t he openings cited by



~1504
M. Christian, he did not attenpt to reach in to determne if he
could reach the exposed parts (Tr. 150).

Paul Gllespie testified that he is enployed by the
respondent as an electrician and that he has worked at the m ne
for 4 years. He is a union nenber, and has 20 years experience in
the m nes, including 15 years as an electrician. He confirned
that he is familiar with the tail pulley area and visited it once
each week during his electrical inspection. He identified exhibit
R-2 as a mine map which accurately reflects the mne workings. He
stated that the tail pulley in question was |ocated approxi mately
50 feet inby the green "X' mark on the map. He identified the
areas marked in red on the map as those areas where coal was
being mned. He also identified the "short yellow' |line on the
map as the No. 1 belt line, and the "long yellow' Iine as the No.
2 belt Iine. He also stated that mners did not nornally travel
past the tail pulley on their way in and out of the m ne working
ar eas.

M. Gllespie stated that the individual who serviced the
tail pulley on a daily basis would be in the cited area for
approximately 5 minutes, and while greasing the pulley he would
be behind the pulley or "off to the side" approximtely a foot
away. The belt was equipped with 18 to 20 inch grease hoses for
greasing the pulley, and the service man woul d be on his hands
and knees while performng this work. M. Gl lespie stated that
t he average height of the coal in this area was 24 to 25 inches,
but at the i mediate area of the tail pulley, it was 20 inches
high, and the entry was 26 inches. The width of the travel way on
the "clearance side" of the belt was 15 to 18 feet, and on the
"rib side," the clearance was approximately 3 feet.

M. Gllespie estimated that the rubber belting material
whi ch was cited by Inspector Christian had been bolted on the
frane of the belt conveyor for about a year prior to the issuance
of the citation on April 18, 1984. M. Gl espie was of the
opinion that the belting material was adequate to guard the tai
pul l ey, and he did not believe that the guardi ng presented any
hazards. He stated that he "could stay away fromthe pulley” in
the event greasing or cleaning had to be done, but he conceded
that "sonmeone could get into it if they tried."

M. Gllespie stated that after the citation was issued
m ne foreman Ayers instructed himto renove the belting material
and to reguard the tail piece. Al though no particular type of
materi al was nentioned as suitable for guarding,
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M. Gllespie confirned that he (G 1l espie) suggested chain Iink
fencing, and after |ocating sone of this material, he cut it to
size and arranged to transport it into the mne at approximately
11: 00 a.m that sane day. However, when he informed |Inspector
Christian that he intended to set sonme tinber posts in place and
attach the fencing to the posts, M. Christian informed himthat
the fencing had to be anchored or fastened directly to the frane
of the belt. M. Gllespie determined that this was not feasible
and that during his further discussion with M. Christian, the
use of corrugated or expandable nmetal guarding material was

di scussed

M. Gllespie stated that Inspector Christian infornmed him
that the use of rubber belting material was not acceptable as a
sui tabl e guard because it did not provide for ventilation of the
belt, and since it would contain any heat generated by the belt,
it could be a hazard. M. Gllespie stated that he assuned t hat
M. Christian preferred that sone kind of netal material be used
for guarding the tail piece, and he agreed with the inspector's
assessnent that nmetal guarding would provide a better guard.
However, since the netal material was not available at the mne
M. Gllespie had to order it froma supplier, and he did so. He
left the rubber belting on the tail piece pending the arrival of
the ordered netal material, and since the belting had been in
pl ace for a year, M. Gllespie believed that "it was good
enough. "

M. Gllespie stated that when M. Christian returned to the
mne on April 19, Inspector Taylor was with him M. Tayl or
informed M. Gllespie that he wanted to inspect the tail piece
whi ch had been previously cited, and they both proceeded to that
area. Wen M. Taylor found the rubber belting still on the
tail piece, he inforned M. Gllespie that it should have been
replaced by 8:00 a.m that norning. M. Gllespie stated that he
explained to M. Taylor that corrugated or expanded materials
were not avail able, but that he had ordered the material and was
waiting for its arrival. M. Taylor then instructed himto shut
the belt Iine down, and M. G llespie imediately conmplied. M.
Gllespie then infornmed the mne foreman that the belt had been
shut down. In order to get back into production, M. Gllespie
was later informed to find "some scrap netal” material and to
fabricate a guard to suit the inspectors. M. Gllespie found
some material, and after cutting it to suitable size, he brought
it intothe mne and installed the guarding conpletely around the
tail piece by bolting it to the belt frame. M. Gllespie
estimated that once the nmetal guarding was cut and prepared,
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it took himapproximately 45 to 50 minutes to install it (Tr.
151-166).

On cross-exam nation M. Gllespie confirmed that grease
hoses were in place on the tailpiece at the tine the citation was
i ssued, and he indicated that anyone servicing the pulley had to
be on all fours or Ilying dowmn. He also confirmed that on the
"tight side" of the belt, the clearance was reduced to 12 to 18
i nches because of the tinmbers which were in place. He stated that
anyone on their hands and knees in the proximty of the tail piece
woul d be on "the sane level" as the exposed tail pulley area. He
agreed with Inspector Christian's estinmate that the distance
bet ween the conveyor frame and the exposed pinch points was 3
inches. M. G llespie could not recall where he obtained the
scrap netal material used to guard the tail piece

In response to further questions, M. Gllespie stated that
he had no knowl edge as to the manner in which the belt Iocation
cited in the past by MSHA | nspector Sinmons was guarded (Tr.
171). M. Gllespie was of the opinion that if anyone nmade a
conscious effort to reach into the tail pulley openings, they
woul d make contact and get caught in the pulley (Tr. 172). He
confirmed that the belt would be running while he was greasing it
or cleaning up around the tail piece. He confirmed that the tai
piece is raised up off the floor, and that even though he is on
his knees, he can use a shovel for cleaning up the coal around
the tail piece. The belt is running while this cleanup takes
pl ace, and the coal which is cleaned up is sinply placed on the
belt (Tr. 173). M. Gllespie indicated that he is in the area
once a week during his weekly electrical inspection, and he
confirnmed that he was not involved in the initial installation of
the belting which was used to guard the tail pulley, nor was he
i nvolved in the moving of the tail piece (Tr. 174).

James Ayers testified that he has served as the respondent's
m ne foreman for approximately 3 1/2 years, and that he has
worked in the mning industry for 19 years. He confirnmed that he
and Inspector Christian travelled together during the inspection
of April 18, 1984, that he is aware of the citation, and
confirned that it was served on him

M. Ayers stated that Inspector Christian infornmed himthat
both sides of the conveyor belt needed to be guarded at the
pl aces whi ch were open and exposed and not guarded by the rubber
belting material. Once the citation was issued,
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M. Ayers left the matter up to electrician Gllespie, including
the matter as to howit was to be guarded. M. Ayers denied
telling M. Gllespie as to the type of material to use to guard
the tail pulley, and he confirmed that M. Gl esie did suggest
the use of chain link fencing material. M. Ayers believed that
M. Gllespie wuld install the chain link fencing materi al
sonetine after 3:00 p.m, on April 18, during the nmaintenance
period regul arly schedul ed each day between 3:00 p.m and 5:00
p. m

M. Ayers stated that the belt is inspected every day during
the preshift inspection, and that he inspected it on the norning
on April 18. M. Ayers was of the view that the existing belting
mat eri al which was bolted to the conveyor frame, and which
covered the rear of the tail piece pulley, was adequate and
conplied with MSHA' s guardi ng regul ations. M. Ayers stated that
before the tail piece was noved during the | engthening of the
belt Iine, the tail pulley had been guarded with the sanme rubber
belting material over the end of the tail piece, and that a
previ ous inspector had approved of this guardi ng nethod. The
previ ous inspector also advised himthat as long as the tai
pi ece was guarded at the rear, it was not necessary to guard the
si des. However, Inspector Christian insisted that the sides, as
well as the rear of the tail piece, had to be guarded. M. Ayers
stated that he did not believe that anyone coul d have contacted
any exposed belt noving parts unless they nmade a deliberate
effort to do so

M. Ayers stated that when |Inspector Christian returned to
the mne on April 19, Inspector Taylor was with him M. Ayers
acconpanied M. Christian on his inspection rounds that day, and
M. Taylor acconpanied M. Gllespie. M. Ayers stated that he
was not concerned about the cited tail pulley because he assuned
M. Gllespie had taken care of it, and since M. Gllespie
al ways does a good job, he assumed that he had taken care of the
matter. M. Ayers stated that he first learned that the guarding
had not been repl aced when the belt was shut down. He and M.
Christian went to the area at approximately 9:00 or 9:30 a.m,
and M. Gllespie and M. Taylor were there. M. Gllespie
informed himthat the material necessary to repair the guarding
was on its way (Tr. 175-184).

On cross-exam nation, M. Ayers stated that if anyone
"really wanted to" stick his hand into the tail pulley, they
could do it. He also agreed that the exposed portion of the
pul l ey was on the sane | evel as anyone crawling around on their
hands and knees, and while he indicated that he has
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never slipped in the 3 1/2 years he has worked in the pulley
area, he could not state whether or not it was possible for
anyone to slip while crawing around the area.

M. Ayers confirmed that he observed grease hoses on each
side of the belt in question, but he did not know where M.
G llespie obtained the metal material used to guard the belt. He
descri bed the unguarded areas whi ch concerned | nspector
Christian, and stated that M. Christian was only concerned about
t he exposed and unguarded "side areas"” of the belt (Tr. 186-188;
191-192). M. Ayers described how the guardi ng was attached to
the belt to achi eve abatenent, and he conceded that there would
be no reason to take the guarding off to perform nai ntenance or
greasing on the belt (Tr. 194).

In response to further questions, M. Ayers stated that he
and I nspector Christian had on prior occasions travelled the sane
belt tail piece, but that M. Christian never nmentioned the |ack
of adequate guarding (Tr. 197).

I nspector Christian was called by MSHA in rebuttal, and he
stated that he could not recall whether or not he observed any
grease fittings on the belt at the tinme he issued the citation
(Tr. 199). He also had no recollection of having observed the
belt in that sane condition during prior inspections (Tr.
200-201) .

M. Christian stated that any guardi ng which woul d not
permt one to come in contact with noving belt parts by getting
in between the guarding material and the belt woul d be acceptable
as conpliance. He agreed that there was sone disagreenent anong
i nspectors as to what is acceptabl e guarding, and he confirned
that MSHA's policy is that guarding sinply nailed to a post which
could be readily knocked down or renoved is not acceptable. He
al so confirmed that in his district, corrugated materials and
well -installed fencing materials are considered to be acceptable
means for guarding belts (Tr. 206-208).

I nspector Taylor was also called in rebuttal, and he stated
that he was present during a conference held soneti ne between
Novenmber, 1983, and April, 1984, and that he overheard his
supervi sor suggest to M. Fergusen that he cone up with a sinple
drawing as to how a belt guard would be fabricated so that NMSHA
could review it to determne whether it would be acceptable (Tr.
209).
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Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

Fact of Violation

The citation in this case charges the respondent with a
failure to adequately guard a belt conveyor tail pulley. The
cited mandatory safety standard, 30 C F.R 075.1722(b), provides
as follows: "Quards at conveyor-drive, conveyor-head, and
conveyor-tail pulleys shall extend a distance sufficient to
prevent a person fromreachi ng behind the guard and becom ng
caught between the belt and the pulley.™

In defense of the citation, the respondent cites the case of
Thonpson Brot hers Coal Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 2094, Septenber
24, 1984, where the Conm ssion upheld a citation for a violation
of 30 CF.R [77.400(a), a surface mning standard requiring the
guardi ng of nechani cal equi pnent exposed noving parts "which may
be contacted by persons, and which may cause injury to persons.™
Respondent asserts that the Conmm ssion ruled that the
construction of the cited section contenplated a showi ng of a
reasonabl e possibility of contact and injury. Respondent
concludes that in the instant case, the petitioner nust first
establish that there was a reasonable possibility of contact and
injury before a prima facie case of a violation is net.

In support of its argunment that the petitioner has not
established that there was a reasonable possibility of contact
and injury in this case, respondent asserts the foll ow ng:

1. The lack of worker activity in the area (5 mnutes
per day) which presented a very m ni num worker exposure
to whatever slight hazard was present.

2. The | ow seam hei ght where the tail pulley was

| ocat ed necessitated a worker being on all fours and

| ayi ng down while performng the work necessary to the
tail pulley, which in turn nade slipping a virtua

i mpossibility during the performance of the work

duti es.

3. The travelway to the tail pulley had a 12" to
13" cl earance.

4. deaning and greasing could be acconplished froma
saf e di stance (24-30 inches).
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5. The tail pulley was guarded fromthe rear by a piece
of belt material anchored to the back frane by
bolts (Tr 24).

6. The tail pulley was |ocated off the main travel way
to the working section of the mne and whatever hazard
was present, slight, if any, was not exposed to workers
entering or |eaving the mne.

In the Thonpson Brothers case, Judge Broderick rejected the
operator's argunent that it was virtually inpossible for a person
not suicidally inclined to contact the unguarded noving parts in
guestion, and he accepted the testinony of the inspector that the
unguarded parts were accessi ble and m ght be contacted by persons
exam ni ng or working on the equipnent. In affirmng Judge
Broderick's decision, the Conmi ssion stated as follows at 6
FMSHRC 2097:

The standard requires the guarding of machi ne parts
only when they "may be contacted" and "may cause
injury.” Use of the word "may" in these key phrases

i ntroduces considerations of the |ikelihood of the
contact and injury, and requires us to give neaning to
the nature of the possibility intended. W& find that
the nost | ogical construction of the standard is that
it inmports the concepts of reasonable possibility of
contact and injury, including contact stenmng from

i nadvertent stunbling or falling, nonentary

i nattention, or ordinary human carel essness. In rel ated
contexts, we have enphasized that the constructions of
mandat ory safety standards involving mners' behavior
cannot ignore the vagaries of human conduct. See, e.g.
Great Western Electric, 5 FMSHRC 840, 842 (May 1983);
Lone Star Industries, Inc., 3 FMBHRC 2526, 2531
(Novenber 1981). Applying this test requires taking
into consideration all relevant exposure and injury
variables, e.g., accessibility of the machine parts,
wor k areas, ingress and egress, work duties, and as
noted, the vagaries of human conduct. Under this
approach, citations for inadequate guarding will be
resol ved on a case-by-basis. (Enphasis added.)
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| take note of the fact in Thonpson Brothers, the Conm ssion
fashioned its "likelihood of contact and injury" test after
anal yzing the "may cause injury" |anguage of section 77.400(a).
The conparabl e standard for underground m nes, section
75.1722(a), contains identical |anguage, and applies in instances
wher e desi gnated equi prment is not provided with guards. However,
in the instant case, the respondent is charged with a violation
of subsection (b) of section 75.1722, which contains no such
| anguage. The cited standard here requires that guards provided
for certain designated equi prent be sufficient to prevent a
person fromreachi ng behind the guard and bei ng caught between
the belt and the pulley.

I nspector Christian testified that he issued the citation
because the tail pulley in question was not adequately guarded at
t he back on both sides where a piece of belting had been
installed over the pulley, and in two areas on either side and in
front of the tail roller where the configuration of the belt
framework resulted in openings which were not guarded. At the
time of the inspection, the section was in production and the
belt was running. M. Christian's unrebutted testinony is that
t he pinch points were about 3 inches fromthe unguarded openi ngs,
and that it was possible for anyone to reach in and contact the
unguar ded openi ngs. He al so believed that anyone in the area
cl eani ng up, greasing, or inspecting the area could contact the
pi nch points through carel essness or slipping or tripping on the
adj acent travel ways. |nspector Taylor, who viewed the unguarded
area the next day when he visited the mine to abate the citation
agreed with Inspector Christian's assessnent of the hazards
presented by the inadequately guarded pulley.

M ne electrician Paul G llespie agreed with Inspector
Christian's assertion that the unguarded pinch points were sone 3
i nches fromthe conveyor belt framework, and while he personally
did not feel threatened by any hazard posed by the unguarded
pul l ey and indicated that he could stay away fromit while
greasing it or cleaning up, he conceded that anyone could readily
contact the pinch points if they tried. He also confirned that
the belt is running while cleanup and greasing is conducted.

Al t hough section foreman Janmes Ayers was of the opinion that the
pul | ey was adequately guarded, he conceded that anyone making a
deliberate effort to contact the pinch points could do so, and he
agreed that the exposed unguarded pulley was at the sanme |evel as
anyone crawl i ng around the area on their hands and knees.



~1512

Al t hough the inspector agreed that the belt exam ner woul d
only be in the area for 5 mnutes while visually observing the belt,
he al so indicated that belt cleaners are there for |onger periods
whi | e cl eani ng up under and on both sides of the pulley, and that
a mechani c would al so be there at |east once during each shift
greasing the pulley bearings. Although M. Gllespie testified
that grease hoses were provided to pernmit greasing froma
di stance of a foot or so frombehind or to the side of the
unguarded pull ey, he also indicated that a service man woul d be
on his hands and knees while performng this work. VWile the
presence of grease hoses woul d reduce the Iikelihood of injury,
the fact remains that the pulley was |located in a rather confined
area where the travelway inclined, and where nen had to craw
around on their hands and knees. G ven the fact that cleanup
personnel, mechanics, and belt exam ners were regularly in the
area at |least once a shift, and had to craw around the unguarded
area, the confinenent itself added to the possibility of soneone
i nadvertently comng in contact with the unguarded pulley pinch
points located only 3 inches fromthe belt structure.

Although it is true that the | ow coal seam and confined area
may have reduced the chances of soneone tripping or falling, the
fact is that the persons crawing around the area on all fours
woul d be at the approxi mate same | evel as the unguarded pulley.

G ven the additional fact that clean up and greasi ng was done
with the belt running, this increased the possibility of someone
being seriously injured in the event they contacted the unguarded
pul l ey, particularly with respect to the cleanup nan, w th shovel
in hand, and on all fours, working around the unguarded pulley.
In addition, since the area was wet and muddy, one can reasonably
conclude that a person on his hands and knees perform ng work
around the pulley would be in jeopardy of sliding or losing his
bal ance.

On the facts of this case, while it seens clear that the
back of the pulley was guarded with belting material, the belting
did not extend to either side, and these areas were |left exposed.
The additional openings in the belt frame forward of the pulley
were totally unguarded. Thus, | conclude and find that the
petitioner has established by a preponderance of the credible
evi dence that the guardi ng was i nadequate and constituted a
viol ation of section 75.1722(b). Further, given the
af orementi oned circunstances with regard to the working
conditions and the presence of mners in the unguarded areas with
the belt running, | conclude and find further that it was
reasonably likely that soneone could inadvertently or through
carel essness, conme in contact with
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t he unguarded pul |l ey pinch point while the belt was running, and
that a serious injury would result. For these sane reasons, |

al so conclude and find that the violation was significant and
substantial. Accordingly, the citation IS AFFI RVED

H story of Prior Violations

Exhibit P-4, is a conputer printout listing the respondent’'s
civil penalty assessnent record for the period April 18, 1982
through April 17, 1984. That record reflects that the respondent
paid civil penalty assessnments totaling $3,058 for 72 section
104(a) citations issued at the mne. Two of those were for prior
vi ol ati ons of section 75.1722(b), and one was for a violation of
section 75.1722. For an operation of its size, | cannot concl ude
that the respondent's conpliance record is such as to warrant any
additional increase in the civl penalty assessnent for the
violation in question in this case.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty on the Respondent's
Ability to Continue in Business

Fromthe information provided by the parties in Stipulation

No. 5, | conclude that the respondent is a snall-to-nediumsized
operator. | adopt as mny conclusion the stipulation by the parties
that the civil penalty assessed in this case will not adversely

affect the respondent’'s ability to continue in business.
Negl i gence

Respondent argues that since the tail pulley in question was
guarded to the satisfaction of another MSHA inspector 1-year
prior to the inspection conducted by Inspector Christian, and
since M. Christian inspected the pulley at |east once on a prior
mne visit and issued no citation, it was entitled to rely on an
assunption that the tail pulley was adequately guarded.

Respondent al so argues that the unguarded openings in question
did not create such a dangerous hazard as to put it on notice
that it required attention. Under these circunstances, the
respondent concludes that it was not negligent.

Petitioner argues that the violation resulted froma high
degree of negligence by the respondent. In support of its
argunent, petitioner asserts that the |ocation of the
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pul l ey was subject to daily inspections and that its testinony
reflects that the condition had existed for a substantial period
of time and was readily identifiable to anyone | ooking at the
pul l ey (posthearing brief, pg. 4). Further, petitioner points out
that on Novenber 7, 1983, the respondent received a citation for
the sanme condition cited in the instant case because an 8 foot

pi ece of belt had been placed over the tail roller in an attenpt
to guard it. That was also the condition of the tail pulley when
M. Christian issued his citation, and the respondent stated at
the hearing that abatenent in the prior instance consisted only
of bolting the belt at the top

Petitioner points to the testinmony of M. Christian that the
previous citation was discussed at the MSHA conference held in
this case, and that it was nade clear by the inspector who issued
the Novenber 7 citation, that abatenment was achi eved by securing
the belt material at the sides, and all the way around the back
of the tail piece. That is no | ess than what was required in the
i nstant case. Petitioner concludes that it is sinply incredible
t hat MSHA woul d have acted otherwi se, and that it is equally
i ncredi bl e that m ne operator Fergusen, who was an NMSHA i nspector
and supervisor for 10 years, woul d have been confused about the
proper guardi ng procedure.

In response to the respondent's suggestion that MSHA is
somehow estopped fromissuing a citation because of its failure
to do so in the past, petitioner cites the decision of Judge
Morris in Secretary of Labor v. Southway Construction Co., 6
FMSHRC 2420, Cctober 10, 1984, 3 MSHC 1656 (1984), rejecting an
identical argunment with respect to a violation of the guarding
requirenents of 30 C.F. R [56.14-1. Petitioner also cites the
deci sions in Bethl ehem M nes Corporation v. Secretary of Labor, 2
MSHC 1039, 1040 (1980), and Emery M ning Corporation v. Secretary
of Labor, 3 MSHC 1585, 1588 744 F.2d 1411 (10th Cir.1984), in
support of its conclusion that an operator's failure to know that
a condition constituted a violation of the lawis not a defense
to negli gence.

After consideration of the argunents presented by the
parties, | conclude and find that the violation resulted fromthe
respondent's failure to exercise reasonable care to insure
conpliance with the requirenments of the cited standard, and that
t he respondent was negligent. Although | am cognizant of the fact
that MSHA inspector's have differed as to the adequate guardi ng
requi renents of section 77.1722(b), particularly with respect to
what constitutes a "sufficient
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di stance" for extending a guard, and what is a "suitable"
guarding material, it nonethel ess seens clear to ne that the
petitioner's argunments on the negligence issue is correct.
Respondent's assertions that it was not negligent are rejected.

Gavity

I conclude and find that the failure to conpletely guard the
cited tail pulley on the belt which was running constituted a
serious violation, particularly at those | ocations where the
pi nch points were sone 3 inches fromthe openings.

Good Faith Conpliance

The parties differ as to whether the violation was abated in
good faith. Respondent mmintains that delays were encountered
because of the inspector's personal preferences concerning the
type of materials to be used to guard the tail pulley, and the
unavail ability of guarding materials. Respondent al so maintains
that requiring the abatenent work to be done on the same shift as
the citation was issued was unreasonable in itself. Petitioner
asserts that the respondent did not abate the violation in good
faith and in a tinmely manner, and only did so after a w thdrawal
order was issued. Petitioner suggests that M. Gllespie and M.
Ayers may have been nonchal ant and uncari ng about the abatenent.
Petitioner concludes that despite the fact that material and
personnel were available to do the job, the respondent failed to
abate within the tinme fixed by the inspector, and that its
excuses for the delay should be rejected.

On direct exam nation, Inspector Christian testified that
when he di scussed the citation with M. Ayers, he discussed the
use of rubber belting material as a guard, but suggested that
metal guarding materials mght be nore suitable since they were
of a nore permanent nature and could not be easily renoved. He
al so advised M. Ayers that he would prefer metal guarding, and
M. Ayers responded that it was possible that this material could
be obtai ned from another mne some 15 miles away. Wen M.
Christian returned to the mne the next day at 6:30 am, he
di spatched I nspector Taylor to the pulley area to see whether the
abat ement had been achi eved, and M. Christian did not arrive
there until approximately 11:00 a.m At that tinme the netal
guarding was in the process of being installed. M. Taylor
testified that when he arrived earlier at the tail pulley area he
saw no evi dence of any abatenment work taking place.
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I nspector Christian and I nspector Taylor were recalled by nme
after they and M. Fergusen had testified. M. Christian
confirmed that he discussed the abatenment with M. Ayers and
advi sed himthat the use of rubber belting guarding materials
were acceptable, as long as it was secure. He conceded that he
"suggested" to M. Ayers that sonething nore substantial should
be used, and while he could not recall nentioning the use of
chain-link fencing materials, he indicated that he woul d accept
such fencing as an adequate guard so long as it was securely
installed. M. Taylor stated that he and M. Christian had
di scussed the violation on the way to the mne the day after the
citation was issued and that M. Christian advised himthat while
he told M. Ayers he could use rubber belting as guarding, he
recomended to M. Ayers that nmetal materials be used.

VWhen called in rebuttal by the petitioner, |nspector
Christian admtted that there was di sagreenment anong inspectors
in his office as to what is acceptabl e guarding, and he admtted
that in his district corrugated materials and well installed
fencing materials are considered to be acceptabl e neans of
guardi ng belts. Inspector Taylor testified on rebuttal that he
overheard his supervisor suggest to M. Fergusen that he submt
drawi ngs to MSHA so that a determnation could be nmade as whet her
the materials used for guardi ng are adequate.

By letter and enclosures of May 21, 1984, in response to ny
request made during the hearing, petitioner's counsel subnitted a
copy of MSHA's policy directive covering the nechanical equi pnent
guards required by section 75.1722. The policy directive cites
"substantial chains, cables, or the equivalent"” as exanpl es of
guards which are presunably acceptable to MSHA. Included as an
attachnent to this directive are two sketches | abel ed
"standardi zed guard for belthead" and "standardi zed bel t heads
sections,” with notations and exanples as to what may be
required. | note that nowhere is rubber belting material, fencing
material, or netal material specifically nentioned.

M. Gllespie testified that after the citation was issued
M. Ayers instructed himto renove the belting material, but that
he did not nmention the type of material he was to use to abate
the citation. M. Gllespie stated that he (G 11 espie) suggested
chain link fencing material, and after measuring and cutting it
to size, he made arrangenents to take it into the m ne that sane
day. However, he clains that when he advised M. Christian that
he intended to
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install chain link fencing on some posts around the tail pulley,
M. Christian inforned himthat this could not be done and that
the fencing material should be bolted directly to the belt frane.
M. Gllespie stated that he advised M. Christian that this was
not feasible, and after further discussion, M. Christian
rejected the use of rubber belting materials because he believed
it would be hazardous. At that point intime, M. Gllespie

di scussed the use of corrugated or expandable netal materials,
and after determning that it would have to be ordered, he
decided to leave the belting material in place pending the
arrival of the netal materials.

M. Gllespie testified that when |Inspector Tayl or
confronted himthe next day and asked for an explanation as to
why the belt had not been guarded, he explained that the
materials were on order and had not arrived. M. Taylor reacted
by i medi ately ordering the shutting down of the belt. Wen nine
foreman Ayers |learned of this, he imedi ately ordered M.
Gllespie to find "sonme scrap netal” material to fabricate a
guard to suit the inspectors. Once this was done, it took M.
Gllespie 45 to 50 minutes to install it with the assistance of
M. Tayl or.

Having viewed M. Gllespie on the stand during his
testinmony, | find himto be a credible witness, and | believe his
expl anati on of the events which transpired during the abatenent
peri od. Although the respondent did not produce any witten
i nvoices for the materials purportedly ordered, I have no basis
for doubting that this was done. Petitioner suggests that the
abat ement was "forced" on the respondent only after the order was
i ssued. Wiile one may speculate as to why the "scrap material”
was not used in the first place, Inspector Christian's sonewhat
equi vocal testinony on direct, recall, and rebuttal as to what
was acceptable to himto achi eve abatenent supports the
responnt’'s suggestions that it did the best it could under the
ci rcunmst ances. Accordingly, | conclude and find that the
petitioner has failed to establish that the respondent acted in
bad faith, and its argunents in this regard are rejected.

Penal ty Assessnent

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the requirenents of section 110(i) of the
Act, | conclude that a civil penalty assessnment in the anount of
$400 is appropriate and reasonable for the section 104(d) (1)
Citation No. 2124598, April 18, 1984.
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CORDER

The respondent 1S ORDERED to pay a civil penalty in the
amount of $400 for the violation in question, and payment is to
be made to MSHA within thirty (30) days of the date of this
deci sion and order. Upon receipt of payment, this case is
di sm ssed.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



